THE AMERICAN COUNCIL ON SCIENCE AND HEALTH PRESENTS

# <image> Nutrition Facts Serving Size 1 cup (...009) Servings per container 2 otal Fat 129 Saturated Fat 39 Saturated rat 39 Trans Fat 20 Diesteror 30 mg Diesteror 30 mg Dial Carbohydrate 169 Stal Carbohydrate 50 Dietary Fiber 59 Sugars 4g

Calories from Fat 100 % Daily Value 18%

rcent Daily values are day rie diet. Your Daily Values er depending on your calorie n

Vitamin A Citamin C Calcium

20

and

# Trans Fatty Acids and Heart Disease

By Kathleen Meister, M.A.

Edited by Ruth Kava, Ph.D., R.D. Director of Nutrition, ACSH

> Art Director: Jennifer Lee

October 2006



AMERICAN COUNCIL ON SCIENCE AND HEALTH 1995 Broadway, 2nd Floor, New York, NY 10023-5860 Phone: (212) 362-7044 • Fax: (212) 362-4919 URLs: http://acsh.org • http://HealthFactsAndFears.com E-mail: acsh@acsh.org

# ACSH WOULD LIKE TO THANK THE FOLLOWING INDIVIDUALS FOR THEIR HELPFUL REVIEWS OF THIS PUBLICATION:

Gary R. Acuff, Ph.D. *Texas A&M University* 

Thomas S. Allems, M.D., M.P.H. *Physician/Toxicologist, Consultant* 

Nigel Bark, M.D. Albert Einstein College of Medicine

Michael B. Bracken, Ph.D., M.P.H. Yale University School of Medicine

Elwood F. Caldwell, Ph.D. *University of Minnesota* 

Morris E. Chafetz, M. D. Health Education Foundation

Dean Cliver, Ph.D. University of California, Davis

Owen Fennema, Ph.D. University of Wisconsin

Jack C. Fisher, M.D. University of California, San Diego

Kathryn Kolasa, Ph.D., R.D. East Carolina University

David Kritchevsky, Ph.D. The Wistar Institute

David Klurfeld, Ph.D. *Wayne State University*  Manfred Kroger, Ph.D. Pennsylvania State University

William J. Miller, Ph.D. *University of Georgia* 

Kenneth M. Prager, M.D. New York Presbyterian Medical Center

Joseph D. Rosen, Ph.D. *Rutgers University* 

Gilbert L. Ross, M.D. American Council on Science and Health

Arthur J. Siedler, Ph.D. University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign

Judith S. Stern, D.Sc. University of California, Davis

Jon A. Story, Ph.D. *Purdue University* 

Elizabeth M. Whelan, Sc.D., M.P.H. American Council on Science and Health

James J. Worman, Ph.D. Rochester Institute of Technology

Stan Young, Ph.D. National Institute of Statistical Sciences

ACSH accepts unrestricted grants on the condition that it is solely responsible for the conduct of its research and the dissemination of its work to the public. The organization does not perform proprietary research, nor does it accept support from individual corporations for specific research projects. All contributions to ACSH—a publicly funded organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code—are tax deductible.

Individual copies of this report are available at a cost of \$5.00. Reduced prices for 10 or more copies are available upon request.

Copyright © 2006 by American Council on Science and Health, Inc. This book may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by mimeograph or any other means, without permission.

# **Table of Contents**

| Executive Summary                                |    |  |
|--|----|--|
| Introduction                                     |    |  |
| Chemical Nature and Origin of Trans Fatty Acids  |    |  |
| Intakes of TFAs                                  |    |  |
| Coronary Heart Disease                           |    |  |
| Evolving Views on the Health Effects of TFAs     |    |  |
| How Great Is the Impact of TFAs?                 |    |  |
| Experimental Animal Studies                      | 12 |  |
| Controlled Diet Studies                          | 12 |  |
| Epidemiologic Studies                            | 14 |  |
| Putting the Scientific Findings into Perspective | 19 |  |
| Product Reformulation                            |    |  |
| TFAs and Food Labeling                           |    |  |
| Summary and Conclusions                          |    |  |
| References                                       |    |  |

# **Executive Summary**

- Most of the *trans* fatty acids (TFAs) in the U.S. food supply are derived from partially hydrogenated vegetable oils. TFAs also occur naturally in beef, lamb, and dairy products. TFAs accounted for about 2.5 percent of the energy (calorie) content of the U.S. diet prior to any changes prompted by the 2006 requirement for the inclusion of *trans* fat in nutrition labeling.
- TFAs are one of several dietary factors that affect blood lipid levels, and blood lipid levels are one of several factors that influence the risk of heart disease.
- Until the early 1990s, scientists generally believed that the impact of TFAs on blood lipid levels was minimal, and that fats that contain TFAs were a desirable replacement for saturated fats. More recent research indicates, however, that TFAs raise blood levels of undesirable low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol to an extent comparable to that produced by saturated fatty acids and that TFAs, particularly at high levels of intake, may also lower levels of desirable high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, an effect that saturated fatty acids do not share.
- Based on the effects of TFAs on lipid levels, it has been estimated that replacing all of the TFAs from partially hydrogenated vegetable oils in the U.S. diet with *cis* unsaturated fatty acids could lead to as much as a 3 to 6 percent reduction in heart disease risk. This value should be regarded only as a rough estimate because there are multiple sources of uncertainty in the data used to calculate it. Moreover, the reduction achievable in practice is likely to be substantially lower than calculated estimates because *cis* unsaturated fatty acids cannot replace TFAs in some food applications for reasons related to texture or stability.
- Much higher estimates of the benefit that could be achieved by removing TFAs from the diet have occasionally appeared in the scientific literature and the news media. These estimates are based on epidemiological data that may not reflect a cause-and-effect relationship.
- Contrary to some reports in the news media, the calorie counts of fats containing TFAs are no higher than those of other fats. The scientific rationale for limiting the consumption of TFAs is related to effects on blood cholesterol levels, not effects on obesity. All types of fat are equally high in calories.
- As part of an overall effort to reduce risk factors for heart disease, advice to the public to limit consumption of both saturated fatty acids and TFAs by

substituting polyunsaturated or monounsaturated fats whenever possible is justified by the scientific evidence. Scare tactics, including claims that there should be zero tolerance for TFAs in the food supply, are not justified.

• Overstating the health effects of TFAs is harmful to public health because it promotes an overemphasis on this single dietary factor as opposed to other aspects of diet, other risk factors for coronary heart disease, and other public health priorities. By drawing attention away from other, more significant health risks, the current exaggerated focus on TFAs may actually cause more problems than it solves.

### Introduction

The recent addition of *trans* fat information to the Nutrition Facts labels on food products, combined with news media reports and activists' warnings, have brought these fats to the forefront of public concern. In a national survey conducted in November 2005, 81 percent of a representative sample of U.S. consumers reported being aware of *trans* fats, and 54 percent indicated that they were trying to decrease their *trans* fat consumption (IFIC Foundation, 2006).

Putting the role of *trans* fatty acids (TFAs) into perspective can be difficult, both because of the intensity of the rhetoric surrounding them and because of widely varying claims about the extent of the health risk they pose. Should American consumers believe the Food and Drug Administration's claim that between 600 and 1,200 heart attacks per year will be averted by *trans* fat labeling on food products? Or should they believe the predictions by some scientists that removal of TFAs from the food supply could prevent more than 200,000 heart attacks per year? Is some number between these two extremes more realistic? Or are the data insufficient to justify confidence in any numerical estimates at all?

In this report, the American Council on Science and Health (ACSH) reviews the scientific evidence on the health effects of TFAs in foods, explaining the origins of the widely divergent estimates of the health impact of TFAs and providing perspective on the relative importance of TFA intake in comparison with other aspects of diet and other risk factors for coronary heart disease.

# Chemical Nature and Origin of *Trans* Fatty Acids

The fats in foods are made up of *triglycerides*—molecules consisting of three fatty acids chemically bonded to an alcohol called glycerol. Each fatty acid consists primarily of a linear chain of carbon atoms with hydrogen atoms bound to them. Different types of fatty acids have different physical properties. The fats in foods consist of a multitude of fatty acids, with different types of fatty acids predominating in fats from different sources.

The carbon atoms in a fatty acid chain may be linked to each other by either single or double bonds. (See Figure 1.) If all of the links in the carbon chain are single bonds, the fatty acid is *saturated*. If one or more of the links is a double bond, the fatty acid is *unsaturated*. A fatty acid with one double bond is called *monounsaturated*; one with two or more double bonds is called *polyunsaturated*.

The term *saturation* refers to whether or not the fatty acid contains as many hydrogen atoms as possible. Saturated fatty acids contain the maximum possible number of hydrogen atoms; unsaturated fatty acids contain fewer. This is illustrated in Figure 1. The two carbon atoms involved in the single bond in the figure are bound to a total of four hydrogen atoms, but the two carbon atoms involved in the double bond are bound to only two hydrogen atoms.

The double bonds in an unsaturated fatty acid can have either of two configurations, *cis* or *trans*. If the hydrogen atoms are on the same side of the double bond, the configuration is called *cis*; if they are on opposite sides, it is called *trans*. (See Figure 2.)



Figure 1: The carbon atoms in a fatty acid may be linked to each other by single or double bonds. In saturated fatty acids, all of the bonds are single bonds. Unsaturated fatty acids have one or more double bonds. A saturated fatty acid contains the maximum possible number of hydrogen atoms; an unsaturated fatty acid contains fewer hydrogen atoms.

Because hydrogen and other atoms cannot rotate freely around carbon-to-carbon double bonds, the difference between *cis* and *trans* is a meaningful one. The physical properties of TFAs, such as their melting point, differ from those of *cis* fatty acids. The double bond angle of a TFA is smaller than that of a *cis* fatty acid, resulting in a more linear chain and a higher melting point—properties that are more similar to those of saturated fatty acids than those of *cis* unsaturated fatty acids.

Most of the unsaturated fatty acids in foods contain only *cis* double bonds. The less common TFAs in foods come from two sources:

- Some TFAs are produced naturally by microorganisms in the digestive tracts of ruminant animals and are, therefore, present in the fats in foods derived from these animals, such as beef, lamb, and dairy products. Their presence in these foods is natural; it is not a result of food processing. Between 2 and 8 percent of the fatty acids in dairy products and between 2 and 11 percent of the fatty acids in meats derived from ruminant animals are TFAs; by contrast, less than 0.5 percent of the fatty acids in pork fat, which is derived from a nonruminant animal, are *trans* (Pfalzgraf et al., 1994). Foods derived from ruminant animals account for approximately 20 to 25 percent of the total TFAs in American diets, according to an analysis of national survey data (from the Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals [CSFII]) collected in 1989-1991 (Allison et al., 1999).
- The remaining TFAs (75 to 80 percent of the total) come from vegetable oils, most commonly soybean oil, that have been processed by *partial hydrogenation*. In this procedure, hydrogen is added to the fatty acids, resulting in conversion of some of the unsaturated fatty acids to saturated ones. During this process, some of the *cis* fatty acids that are not hydrogenated are converted to TFAs. The hydrogenation process is used to convert liquid oils into semisolid forms that are more suitable for some types



Figure 2: The double bonds in a fatty acid can be in either the *cis* or the *trans* configuration. The shapes of *cis* fatty acids and TFAs differ, with resulting differences in physical properties such as melting point.

of food processing, such as baking (ISEO, 2006). It also increases the stability of oils that would otherwise become rancid easily (ISEO, 2006). Thus, partially hydrogenated vegetable oils can be used for some purposes for which animal fats such as lard were traditionally used. The quantity of TFAs in partially hydrogenated oils varies depending on the degree and conditions of hydrogenation. Typically, the partially hydrogenated fats used in commercial baking or frying contain 14 to 18 percent TFAs (United Soybean Board, undated). It is noteworthy that TFAs are formed only during *partial* hydrogenation. If a fat is fully hydrogenated, all of the unsaturated fatty acids are converted to saturated fatty acids.

There are a variety of different TFAs, with different chain lengths and different numbers and locations of double bonds. Although the health effects of individual TFAs have not been studied in humans, the results of studies in cell culture suggest that differences among the individual TFAs may exist (Chen et al., 2006). The exact mix of TFAs naturally present in ruminant animal products differs from that in partially hydrogenated vegetable oils. Thus, the health effects of the TFAs from the two sources may not be identical.

Partially hydrogenated oils began to be used early in the twentieth century, and their use increased steadily throughout most of the century (ASCN/AIN Task Force on *Trans* Fatty Acids, 1996). In the United States, the partially hydrogenated oils used in foods are of vegetable origin, with soybean oil most commonly used; in other parts of the world, however, partially hydrogenated fish oils have also been used.

Partially hydrogenated vegetable oils are used in a wide variety of foods, often as replacements for fats of animal origin, such as butter, lard (pork fat), or tallow (beef fat). The initial impetus for their use was usually cost; for example, margarines (also called oleomargarines) made from partially hydrogenated vegetable oils were less expensive than butter. Later, when the link between high intakes of saturated fatty acids and higher blood cholesterol levels became evident, partially hydrogenated vegetable oils were also regarded as a good substitute for the more saturated animal fats for health reasons. For example, in a 1988 issue of its publication *Nutrition Action*, the Center for Science in the Public Interest (CSPI) stated<sup>1</sup> (Blume, 1988):

Despite the rumors, there is little good evidence that trans fats cause any more harm than other fats...All told, the charges against trans fat just don't stand up. And by extension, hydrogenated oils seem relatively innocent.

These statements accurately reflected the scientific knowledge at that time.

Fats rich in TFAs provide the same amount of energy (calories) as other fats do—about 9 calories per gram (45 calories per teaspoon), which is more than

<sup>1.</sup> CSPI is now one of the strongest opponents of partially hydrogenated oils.

twice the energy provided by the same amount of protein or carbohydrate. Substituting other types of oils for partially hydrogenated vegetable oils will not reduce the total fat or total calories in foods. Unfortunately, misconceptions about this point seem to be common. News reports sometimes describe *trans* fat as "fattier" or more caloric than other types of fat.<sup>2</sup> This is incorrect.

The major food sources of TFAs for American adults (prior to any changes in food formulations prompted by the recent inclusion of TFAs in nutrition labeling) were cakes, cookies, crackers, pies, bread, etc. (40 percent of total intake); animal products (21 percent); margarine (17 percent); fried potatoes (8 percent); potato chips, corn chips, popcorn (5 percent); household shortening (4 percent); salad dressing (3 percent); breakfast cereal (1 percent); and candy (1 percent) (FDA, 2003a). Of course, all of these values are subject to change, and many may have already changed with the recent reformulations of food products.

# **Intakes of TFAs**

Estimating the intake of TFAs is not easy because the amounts of TFAs in particular foods have changed over time and because, until very recently, data on the TFA contents of foods were limited. As the FDA noted in its 2003 document requiring the listing of TFAs on food labels starting in 2006, there are multiple sources of uncertainty in published estimates of TFA intake. The available data suggest that average TFA intakes of U.S. consumers probably fall within the range of 1.3 g to 12.8 g per day (FDA, 2003b). When trying to pinpoint U.S. TFA intakes more closely, researchers have often relied on intake data from national diet surveys, particularly the CSFII surveys. Based on 1994-1996 CSFII data, the FDA calculated the average total *trans* fat intake for adults to be 5.84 g/day, or 2.55 percent of total energy (calories) (FDA, 2003b). This estimate is reasonably consistent with values obtained from other studies.

It has been reported that the TFA content of Americans' diets changed little between the 1970s and the early 1990s (ASCN/AIN Task Force on *Trans* Fatty Acids, 1996). During this period, the use of vegetable fat increased. However, at the same time, changes in the processing of vegetable fat led to substantial decreases in TFA content. The two trends counterbalanced each other. For example, soft tub margarines with lower *trans* fatty acid content became increasingly popular, replacing hard stick margarines with higher levels of

<sup>2.</sup> For example, an article on the ABC News website about a lawsuit against KFC concerning the *trans* fatty acid content of its products was headlined "KFC Sued for Fattening Menu." Similarly, an Associated Press story about different levels of TFA in fast foods in different countries carried the headline "Fast-Food Fries, Chicken Fattier in the U.S." In reality, neither of the issues discussed in the stories (both of which will be described later in this report) had anything to do with the calorie or total fat levels in the food products.

TFAs (ASCN/AIN Task Force on *Trans* Fatty Acids, 1996). Data from an ongoing series of surveys in Minnesota indicate that TFA intakes have been gradually decreasing in recent decades as part of a general decrease in fat intake (Harnack et al., 2003); however, it has been suggested that the groups of people studied in these surveys may not be representative of the overall U.S. population (Thorpe, 2003).

The FDA's 1999 proposal requiring the TFA content of foods to be listed on food labels (FDA, 1999) and the 2003 regulation that actually required *trans* labeling, effective in January 2006 (FDA, 2003b), have prompted some food manufacturers to take steps to reduce or eliminate TFAs in their products (the ways in which this is being done are described later in this report). The impact of such changes on average TFA intake has not yet been assessed.

# **Coronary Heart Disease**

Although TFAs have been investigated in relation to a variety of health conditions, the principal concern is their possible link to cardiovascular diseases, especially coronary heart disease. Cardiovascular diseases (a category that includes stroke, congenital heart defects, heart failure, rheumatic heart disease, and several other ailments in addition to coronary heart disease) is the leading cause of death in the U.S., accounting for 37.3 percent of all deaths. Coronary



Figure 3: Data from Table 36 in *Health, United States, 2005*, published by the National Center for Health Statistics (updated March 2006). Available online at http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hus/hus05.pdf#036

heart disease alone accounts for 53 percent of cardiovascular disease deaths and about one in every five total deaths. It is the single largest killer of both men and women in the U.S. (All statistics in this paragraph from AHA, 2006.)

Because coronary heart disease is such a common and serious problem, much research has been devoted to identifying factors that influence the risk of this disease and to devising ways to counteract these risk factors. These efforts have met with considerable success. Although the death rate from heart disease is still high, it is much lower than it used to be. Between 1950 and 2002, as shown in Figure 3, the heart disease death rate in the U.S. dropped by almost 60 percent, from 586.8 to 240.8 per 100,000 people (National Center for Health Statistics, 2005).

# Evolving Views on the Health Effects of TFAs

Researchers have been investigating the health effects of TFAs for several decades. In the 1960s and 1970s, some studies showed that TFAs had a modest elevating effect on blood cholesterol, while others seemed to indicate no effect (reviewed by Korver and Katan, 2006). In the 1980s, independent reviews of the scientific evidence by the U.S. Federation of American Societies of Experimental Biology (Senti, 1985) and the British Nutrition Foundation (British Nutrition Foundation, 1987) both concluded that at the levels of intake that prevailed at that time, consumption of TFAs posed no measurable health risk. Both reports called for additional research. In the mid-1990s, three expert panels reached conclusions similar to those of a decade earlier (Allison et al., 1995; ASCN/AIN Task Force on Fatty Acids, 1996; British Nutrition Foundation, 1995) and again called for continued research on this topic.

In general, until the early 1990s, the evidence indicated that the effects on blood cholesterol levels of partially hydrogenated vegetable oils containing TFAs were more desirable than those of animal fats or tropical oils (which are rich in saturated fatty acids) but less desirable than those of unmodified vegetable oils (which are rich in *cis* unsaturated fatty acids) (Allison et al., 1995). It was pointed out that since partially hydrogenated oils were typically used to replace fat sources rich in saturated fatty acids, their use helped to reduce saturated fatt intake (ASCN/AIN Task Force on Fatty Acids, 1996). Moreover, experts noted that the amount of TFAs in the U.S. diet was far less than the amount of saturated fatty acids, and that concerns about *trans* fat should not be allowed to detract from the well-established goal of reducing intake of saturated fat (ASCN/AIN Task Force on Fatty Acids, 1996). One expert panel recommended that people with high cholesterol should limit their intake of TFAs (National Cholesterol Education Program, 1994), but no official recommendations were

made for the general public. (It is customary and reasonable for health authorities to give stronger advice to those with preexisting risk factors for heart disease than to the general population.)

More recently, expert panels and official recommendations have expressed a greater degree of concern about TFAs, reflecting newer evidence, to be discussed in detail later in this report, indicating that the adverse effect of TFAs on heart disease risk may be comparable to, or possibly greater than, that of a similar quantity of saturated fatty acids.

In 2002, the FDA was developing a regulation for TFA labeling of food products. They asked the Food and Nutrition Board (FNB) of the Institute of Medicine, which was nearing completion of its report on Dietary Reference Intakes for fats and other macronutrients, to release the section of the report pertaining to TFAs several months early so that the FDA could take its findings into consideration.

The released section of the FNB report (FNB, 2002a) stated: "There is a positive linear trend between TFA intake and total and LDL cholesterol concentration [in blood], and therefore increased risk of CHD [coronary heart disease], thus suggesting a Tolerable Upper Intake Level (UL) of zero." The report noted that achieving a zero intake of TFAs would not be feasible because it would require extraordinary changes in dietary intake that could introduce other undesirable effects and risks, such as inadequate intake of nutrients. Therefore, the FNB recommended that "TFA consumption be as low as possible while consuming a nutritionally adequate diet" but did not recommend zero intake.<sup>3</sup> The wording of these conclusions is clearly more negative than those of the expert reviews in the 1980s and 1990s.

The evolution of the views about TFAs is also illustrated by the wording of the discussion of these fatty acids in three successive editions of the federal government's Dietary Guidelines for Americans. The pamphlet that presented the 1995 edition of the Guidelines (USDA/HHS, 1995) stated:

> Partially hydrogenated vegetable oils, such as those used in many margarines and shortenings, contain a particular form of unsaturated fat known as trans-fatty acids that may raise blood cholesterol levels, although not as much as saturated fat.

In 2000, the Guidelines (USDA/HHS, 2000) no longer said that TFAs would raise cholesterol levels to a lesser extent than saturated fat, but instead said the following:

<sup>3.</sup> Some activist groups and news media have used the FNB report to justify claims that "the only safe intake of *trans* fat is zero." However, it is clear from a full reading of the report that the FNB did not intend for people to eliminate *trans* fatty acids from their diets at all costs. Nor did the FNB intend to place a higher priority on *trans* fatty acids than saturated fatty acids. In the full version of its report on fats and other macronutrients (FNB, 2002b), which was published several months after the excerpt on *trans* fats was released, the FNB issued recommendations on saturated fatty acids.

Foods high in trans fatty acids tend to raise blood cholesterol. These foods include those high in partially hydrogenated vegetable oils, such as many hard margarines and shortenings. Foods with a high amount of these ingredients include some commercially fried foods and some bakery goods.

The 2005 edition of the Guidelines (USDA/HHS, 2005), unlike its predecessors, made a specific recommendation to limit TFA intake, as follows:

Consume less than 10 percent of calories from saturated fatty acids and less than 300 mg/day of cholesterol, and keep trans fatty acid consumption as low as possible.

In June 2006, the American Heart Association (AHA) became the first to set a quantitative recommendation pertaining to *trans* fatty acid intake.<sup>4</sup> In a new version of its dietary and lifestyle guidelines, the AHA recommended that trans fat consumption be limited to less than 1 percent of total energy (calories) (Lichtenstein et al., 2006). This is roughly 1 gram per day for a person consuming 2000 calories daily and is less than half the average intake reported in the CSFII survey in the mid-1990s (Allison et al., 1999). It has been estimated that eliminating partially hydrogenated oils would lead to a dietary intake of TFAs of about 1 percent of calories; the remaining TFAs would come primarily from meat and dairy products and from the small amounts of TFAs produced during the deodorizing of vegetable oils (Lichtenstein et al., 2006). The same set of guidelines also called for a more stringent limitation on saturated fatty acid intake than had previously been recommended for the general population-to less than 7 percent of total calories rather than the 10 percent recommended in previous AHA guidelines (previously, such low levels of saturated fatty acids had been recommended only for those on therapeutic diets). It also addressed many other issues pertaining to diet/lifestyle and heart disease. However, news coverage of the new recommendations focused on the trans recommendation, with headlines such as "American Heart Association urges limit on trans fat in diet" (USA Today) and "Heart group offers guideline on trans fat" (Chicago Tribune).

It is important to note that all current recommendations in the U.S., including the new AHA recommendations, call for people to limit their intake of saturated fatty acids as well as TFAs. It has long been established that saturated fatty acids elevate blood levels of LDL cholesterol,<sup>5</sup> and limiting the amount of sat-

<sup>4.</sup> Although the 2005 Dietary Guidelines for Americans did not include a quantitative recommendation for *trans* fat intake, the committee of experts that makes recommendations to the federal agencies that issue the guidelines did suggest an intake of not more than 1 percent of calories (Dietary Guidelines Advisory Committee, 2004). This recommendation was not adopted in the final Dietary Guidelines report. An FDA advisory committee made the same quantitative recommendation (discussed in Lichtenstein et al., 2006), but no official FDA policy statements that include a quantitative recommendation (discussed in Lichtenstein et al., 2006), but no official FDA policy statements that include a quantitative recommendation (discussed in Lichtenstein et al., 2006), but no official FDA policy statements that include a quantitative recommendation (discussed in Lichtenstein et al., 2006), but no official FDA policy statements that include a quantitative recommendation (discussed in Lichtenstein et al., 2006), but no official FDA policy statements that include a quantitative recommendation (discussed in Lichtenstein et al., 2006), but no official FDA policy statements that include a quantitative recommendation (discussed in Lichtenstein et al., 2006), but no official FDA policy statements that include a quantitative recommendation (discussed in Lichtenstein et al., 2006), but no official FDA policy statements that include a quantitative recommendation (discussed in Lichtenstein et al., 2006), but no official FDA policy statements that include a quantitative recommendation (discussed in Lichtenstein et al., 2006), but no official FDA policy statements that include a quantitative recommendation (discussed in Lichtenstein et al., 2006), but no official FDA policy statements that include a quantitative recommendation (discussed in Lichtenstein et al., 2006), but no official FDA policy statements that include a quantitative recommendation (discussed in Lichtenstein et al., 2006), but no official FDA policy statements that incl

<sup>5.</sup> For the purposes of dietary guidance and public health recommendations, it is customary to group all saturated fatty acids together. However, individual types of saturated fatty acids differ in their effects on blood lipid levels. Notably, stearic acid (a saturated fatty acid with 18 carbon atoms), does not raise LDL cholesterol (Kris-Etherton et al., 2005). As will be discussed later in this paper, it may be possible for food technologists to exploit this property of stearic acid when reformulating products to decrease their *trans* fatty acid content.

urated fatty acids in the diet has been a public health priority for decades. Americans typically consume four to five times as much saturated fatty acids as TFAs; thus, experts advise that continuing to make an effort to choose foods low in saturated fatty acids is a top priority. This viewpoint is expressed, for example, in the 2005 Dietary Guidelines for Americans (USDA/HHS, 2005), which state:

> Population-based studies of American diets show that intake of saturated fat is more excessive than intake of trans fats and cholesterol. Therefore, it is most important for Americans to decrease their intake of saturated fat. However, intake of all three should be decreased to meet recommendations.

Authorities in some other countries have taken different views toward TFAs. A notable example is Denmark, where the use of fats containing 2 percent or more of industrially produced TFAs has been banned. The Danish scientific report that served as the official basis for this decision (Danish Nutrition Council, 2003) did not mention what fats would be substituted for TFAs in the Danish diet or consider how the resulting changes would affect overall dietary patterns.

People sometimes ask whether it would be better to use butter rather than margarine in order to avoid the TFAs that may be present in margarine. The answer is no. Although butter contains smaller amounts of TFAs than many margarines do, it is also much higher in saturated fatty acids. When both saturated fatty acids and TFAs are taken into consideration, margarine is the better choice (FDA, 2003c). Among margarines or "spreads," the softer tub or liquid varieties are the best choices because they are lowest in both saturated and TFAs. In fact, some products currently on the market contain no TFAs at all.

# How Great Is the Impact of TFAs?

So how detrimental is the effect of TFAs? Or, to put the question in more positive terms, how great is the benefit that could be achieved by reducing dietary intake of TFAs? The answer depends upon the interpretation of a complex body of scientific evidence, including 1) studies in experimental animals; 2) controlled diet studies in which human volunteers were fed diets containing different types and proportions of fatty acids while blood levels of cholesterol and related lipids were measured; and 3) epidemiologic studies in which the association between TFA intake and heart disease risk was assessed in populations of people consuming their ordinary diets. The answer also depends on what assumptions are made about the types of fat or other food components that will replace any TFAs eliminated from the food supply.

#### Experimental Animal Studies

Studies in experimental animals are not as relevant to the human situation as are studies of human populations, but they offer the unique advantage of allowing researchers to examine all of the animals' tissues at the end of the experiment. The number of animal studies of TFAs and heart disease is limited. The available evidence from animal studies indicates that TFAs have effects on blood cholesterol and other lipids similar to those of saturated fatty acids, but that TFAs do not worsen the arterial damage (atherosclerosis) that leads to heart attacks (Chen et al., 2006). Whether these findings are applicable to humans has not been established.

#### **Controlled Diet Studies**

The earlier impression that TFAs had a lesser impact on cholesterol levels than saturated fatty acids do has been revised as scientists develop a deeper understanding of the health implications of different cholesterol fractions, including the undesirable low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol and desirable highdensity lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol. Improved techniques have made it possible to measure the impact of dietary changes on these specific fractions.

Several studies have been conducted in which people were fed controlled diets with different fatty acid contents for various periods of time, with blood levels of cholesterol and related lipids measured before and after the administration of the test diets. The results of these studies have consistently indicated that, in comparison to diets containing *cis* unsaturated fatty acids, diets containing TFAs raise levels of LDL cholesterol to an extent roughly similar to that produced by a similar amount of saturated fatty acids (reviewed in FDA, 1999 and FNB, 2002a). It is uncertain whether this effect results from specific effects of TFAs, or from the accompanying decrease of cholesterol-lowering *cis* fatty acids, or both (Nicolosi and Dietschy, 1995). There does not appear to be a threshold level below which substituting *trans* or saturated fatty acids for *cis* unsaturated fatty acids does not influence LDL cholesterol levels (FNB, 2002a, see especially Figure 1 in that document). Therefore, quantitative recommendations for saturated or TFA intake usually reflect what is potentially achievable without compromising other aspects of the diet, such as adequate intakes of nutrients, rather than any evidence for a specific optimal intake.

The effect of TFAs on LDL served as the principal justification for the FDA proposal to require TFA labeling on food products (FNB, 2002a). Since TFAs have been consistently shown to elevate LDL cholesterol and since LDL cholesterol is a well-established indicator of heart disease risk, the FDA concluded that providing consumers with information about the TFA content of food products was justified.

There is also evidence, although it is not quite as consistent, that in comparison with consumption of *cis* unsaturated fatty acids, consumption of TFAs may also decrease levels of desirable high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol. However, this effect has been seen primarily in metabolic studies in which TFAs were administered at levels much higher than those typically consumed in the U.S. (in some studies, as much as 10 percent of calories, as opposed to the 2 to 3 percent of calories typical in the U.S.); in the smaller number of studies in which TFAs were administered at levels closer to typical intakes, little if any impact on HDL cholesterol was detected (reviewed by Chen et al., 2006).<sup>6</sup> If a measurable effect of TFAs on HDL cholesterol occurs mainly at relatively high intakes, as this evidence suggests, then decreasing TFA intakes from 2 or 3 percent to 1 percent of total calories may not have a meaningful beneficial impact on HDL cholesterol.

Because there is uncertainty about the effect of TFAs on HDL cholesterol, the FDA did not rely on this effect when justifying its regulation requiring TFAs to be listed on food labels (FDA, 1999 and 2003b), nor did FNB rely on it when making its recommendation that intake of TFAs should be minimized (FNB, 2002a). However, if the effect occurs at realistic levels of TFA intake, then the benefit of replacing TFAs with *cis* unsaturated fatty acids might be as much as twice as great as that predicted on the basis of LDL cholesterol changes alone (FDA, 2003b).

How large could the benefit be? To answer this question, researchers have attempted to project the changes in the number of coronary heart disease deaths that might result from changes in TFA intake, using various assumptions. Such projections should be regarded as extremely rough estimates because they are based on uncertain data. Indeed, some scientists regard such projections as so uncertain that they should not be used in decision-making. ACSH presents projections of the effect of TFA on heart disease deaths primarily to show how certain numbers discussed in the news media were calculated and to compare the estimates that result from consideration of different types of data.

On the basis of effects on LDL and HDL cholesterol, one group of researchers has calculated that if almost all of the TFAs from partially hydrogenated oils in the U.S. diet were replaced by *cis* unsaturated fatty acids, the number of coronary "events" (nonfatal heart attacks or deaths from coronary heart disease) could be reduced by about 6 percent (Mozaffarian, 2006). Since about 1.2 million such events occur in the U.S. each year, this means that a projected 72,000 might theoretically be averted (Mozaffarian, 2006). About 40 percent of heart attacks are fatal (AHA, 2006); thus, one can project on the basis of LDL and HDL changes that replacement of nearly all the TFAs from partially hydro-

<sup>6.</sup> Some epidemiologic evidence also supports the idea of a lack of relationship between TFA intake and HDL cholesterol at realistic intake levels. For example, in the Netherlands, HDL cholesterol levels remained unchanged during a time period in the 1990s when TFA intake decreased significantly (Houterman et al., 2001).

genated oils in the U.S. diet could hypothetically prevent about 29,000 deaths per year.

However, even if these highly uncertain estimates prove to be accurate, they are substantially higher than what is likely to be possible in practice. Because oils consisting primarily of *cis* unsaturated fatty acids do not function well in some food processing applications such as baking, it may not be possible to replace nearly all TFAs with cis unsaturated fatty acids. In some applications, the only possible replacement for partially hydrogenated oils may be fats high in saturated fatty acids (the fats that partially hydrogenated oils originally replaced). Moreover, the estimates are based on the assumption that TFAs have adverse effects on both LDL and HDL cholesterol levels; however, at realistic intake levels, only the effect on LDL cholesterol has been definitively established. The projected health impact of changes in TFA intake if only LDL cholesterol is considered is about half of that projected if effects on both LDL and HDL cholesterol are assumed (FDA, 2003b). Thus, if TFAs have adverse effects only on LDL cholesterol at usual levels of intake, it can be very roughly estimated that about 3 percent of coronary events, or 36,000 total and 14,500 fatal coronary events per year, might theoretically be averted by near-total replacement of TFAs in partially hydrogenated vegetable oils with *cis*-unsaturated fatty acids.

Because TFA labeling in the U.S. and the resulting reformulation of food products are very recent developments, no data are yet available on the impact of these changes on public health. It would be of interest to collect such data in the coming years, both in the United States and in countries such as Denmark where more drastic decreases in TFA intake have occurred. The results of such data collection might prompt further refinement in dietary recommendations.

#### Epidemiologic Studies

Some researchers have suggested that the potential decrease in coronary events (or heart disease deaths) that could result from near-elimination of the use of partially hydrogenated oils containing TFAs is substantially greater than the 3 to 6 percent suggested by studies of effects on blood lipid levels. Decreases as great as 19 to 22 percent, or well over 200,000 coronary events per year, have been projected (Mozaffarian, 2006). These are startlingly high numbers that seem to imply that TFAs could play a role in heart disease risk comparable to that of the major risk factors for heart disease—smoking, undesirable blood lipid levels, and high blood pressure. Where do these unusual numbers come from?

These higher estimates are derived not from metabolic studies but rather from prospective observational epidemiologic studies of large population cohorts. The term *prospective* refers to studies in which information on exposure to factors that might influence the risk of illness is collected before any of the study

participants become ill; such studies are considered superior to *retrospective* studies, in which exposure data are collected after diagnosis, because they are

studies, in which exposure data are collected after diagnosis, because they are not influenced by differences in the ways that ill and well people may recall past events.7 In prospective epidemiologic studies, large groups of people are recruited, and each person is asked to provide extensive information about his or her health and lifestyle; the participants' subsequent health is monitored by periodic follow-up questionnaires. The relationship between consumption of TFAs (as assessed by dietary questionnaires) and subsequent coronary events has been analyzed in four studies of this type: a study of female U.S. nurses (Oh et al., 2005), a study of male U.S. health professionals (Ascherio et al., 1996), a study of male smokers in Finland (Pietinen et al., 1997), and a study of elderly people in the Netherlands (Oomen et al., 2001). In all four studies, after other factors were taken into account, coronary events were more common in people with the highest TFA intakes than in those with the lowest intakes. When the results of the four studies were pooled together using a technique called metaanalysis and other factors were taken into account (in a multivariate analysis), higher TFA intake was associated with a 23 percent increase in coronary events (Mozaffarian et al., 2006). This is substantially higher than what would be predicted based on effects on blood lipid levels alone. The high (19 to 22 percent or 228,000 to 264,000) estimates of the potential decrease in coronary events that could be achieved by reducing TFA intake are based on projections from the results of these prospective studies, combined with various assumptions about the extent to which TFA intake could be reduced and the nature of the nutrients that would replace it in the diet.

These estimates are also based on another critically important assumption, namely, that the association between TFA intake and coronary events seen in the epidemiologic studies is causal. However, this assumption may not be valid. In observational studies, associations between two factors do not necessarily reflect a cause-and-effect relationship. Instead, they may occur by random chance or because each of the factors mentioned is related to a third factor (called a confounding factor) that is truly responsible for the relationship.

To understand the impact of random chance, it is important to understand the nature of statistical tests, most of which are designed in such a way that 5 percent of all tested relationships will be "statistically significant," regardless of whether a true relationship exists. If many comparisons are made, some will be "statistically significant" simply as a matter of chance even if no association exists.

To understand the impact of confounding factors, it may help to consider this simple example: Assume that you observe several thousand people on the

<sup>7.</sup> The relationship between *trans* fatty acid intake and heart disease risk or various markers of heart disease risk has also been examined in retrospective and other types of epidemiologic studies. The designs of these studies are weaker than the design of prospective studies, and thus their findings (which have been inconsistent) are less persuasive. These other epidemiologic studies are not discussed further in this report.

streets of an American city. You record information on two factors: 1) whether or not the individual is wearing a skirt; and 2) whether or not the individual is bald. You will almost certainly discover that there is a strong negative relationship between the two factors, i.e., very few bald people are wearing skirts, and very few skirt-wearers are bald. But this does not prove that skirt-wearing prevents baldness or vice versa. As you undoubtedly realize, the relationship is due to a third factor: gender. Baldness is much more common among men than women, and (at least in the United States) far fewer men than women wear skirts.

In real observational epidemiologic studies, researchers make an attempt to measure obvious potential confounding factors (such as gender) that might influence the results of a study and take these factors into account when analyzing the results of their research. They also ask questions that are designed to help determine whether the association between two factors is likely to be causal, such as the following:

- *Is the relationship a strong one?* If a relationship is very strong, such as the more than tenfold increase in the risk of dying from lung cancer associated with cigarette smoking (Sherman, 1992), it is relatively easy for researchers to be confident that it is a true association, rather than a result of confounding factors or chance. For weaker relationships, making this distinction is much more difficult. Some weak relationships are indeed causal but others are not.
- Does the relationship occur consistently in different populations and under *different circumstances*? If it does not, a causal relationship is less likely.
- *Is the relationship biologically plausible?* It is very difficult to envision a biological mechanism by which skirt-wearing might protect against baldness; on the other hand, the possibility that inhaling tobacco smoke into the lungs might cause a disease of the lungs is certainly plausible.
- Do other types of scientific evidence support the relationship? For example, if evidence from studies in experimental animals is consistent with the findings of observational epidemiologic studies, the case for causality is strengthened. However, it is also important to remember that people are not giant rats; there may be important differences between species that pre-clude extrapolation of findings from animal studies to the human situation.
- *Is the methodology of the epidemiologic studies of high quality?* For example, in studies that evaluate the relationship between dietary factors and other variables, the quality of the method used to assess dietary intake and the accuracy of the food composition data used in the study are important.

Even if the answer to each of these questions is yes, it does not prove that a relationship observed in an observational study is causal. The best way to determine causality is to conduct an intervention study—that is, a study in which people are randomly assigned to be exposed to the agent under investigation or an inactive placebo for a period of time (this is usually set up in such a way that the study participants do not know whether they are getting the active agent or the placebo), and changes in their health are monitored (ideally, by physicians who also do not know whether the participant is receiving the active agent or the placebo). Studies of this type are expensive and they are not always possible for ethical or practical reasons. In instances when intervention studies have been conducted, however, they have sometimes had surprising results. In some well-known instances, intervention studies failed to support hypotheses that had been proposed on the basis of high-quality observational epidemiologic studies with consistent, biologically plausible findings.

For example, during the 1980s, observational studies suggested that betacarotene, an antioxidant pigment found in vegetables, might protect against lung cancer. The evidence was consistent in different population groups, there were plausible mechanisms for such an effect, and evidence from animal and test-tube studies seemed to support the hypothesis. Yet controlled trials of betacarotene supplementation, completed during the 1990s, not only failed to show a protective effect against lung cancer, they actually showed that beta-carotene slightly increased the risk of lung cancer among smokers (Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta Carotene Cancer Prevention Study Group, 1994; Omenn et al., 1996).

Another instance in which a prediction was proven wrong involved the use of the hormones estrogen and progestin by postmenopausal women. A large body of observational evidence suggested that women taking these hormones had a 40 to 50 percent reduction in heart disease risk, and other types of evidence, including animal experiments, supported this association. But when researchers conducted a large trial in which women were randomly assigned to take the hormones or an inactive placebo, those taking hormones actually had a slightly higher risk of heart disease than those taking placebos (Writing Group for the Women's Health Initiative Investigators, 2002).

These are only two examples of many instances in which observational findings have been contradicted. Some analyses indicate that the findings of the majority of studies of this type will not be confirmed by further research (Ioannidis, 2005).

How can observations turn out to be so wrong? One possibility is that the variables measured might have been merely markers for other factors that truly do influence disease risk. For example, one can speculate that the beneficial effects once thought to be due to beta-carotene might actually be attributable to the consumption of a healthful diet that includes ample amounts of vegetables, and that beta-carotene, which is found in vegetables, serves as a marker for this type of diet. Similarly, the use of postmenopausal hormones might be a marker for seeking medical care and complying with doctors' instructions (the use of hormones involves regular doctor's appointments and taking daily doses of medication). In the case of TFAs, one can speculate that high intakes might be a marker for more general dietary patterns—such as frequent consumption of high-calorie fried foods and bakery products, perhaps in place of more nutritious choices such as fruits and vegetables—or for other aspects of lifestyle associated with these dietary patterns.

It is unlikely that a long-term intervention study of TFAs will ever be conducted because of both ethical considerations and the large number of confounding factors. So the question of whether TFAs have an effect on heart disease risk greater than that predicted by their effects on serum lipids alone may never be answered definitively.

Some scientists, particularly those in the research group from the Harvard School of Public Health that conducted the two largest epidemiologic studies, have argued strongly that the relationship seen in these studies is likely to be causal and that therefore the reduction in heart disease risk that could be achieved by reducing dietary TFA intake is likely to be far greater than would be predicted by effects on blood lipid levels alone (Mozaffarian et al., 2006). They base their argument largely on biological plausibility and consistency with other types of scientific evidence, noting that TFAs may have other effects, in addition to their impact on blood lipid levels, that might contribute to heart disease risk. If TFAs influence heart disease risk by several mechanisms, it is plausible that their impact on heart disease risk might be greater than that predicted by lipid effects alone.

On the other hand, some aspects of the epidemiologic data on TFAs cast doubt on the likelihood of a causal relationship. The association between TFAs and heart disease, though potentially very important in public health terms because heart disease is extremely common, is not particularly strong; in the epidemiologic studies, people with high TFA intakes had a risk of heart disease only about 23 percent higher than that of those with low TFA intakes. For associations of this magnitude, it is difficult to distinguish real effects from those due to confounding factors. In general, increases of risk of less than 100 percent (a doubling in risk) are considered relatively weak effects; epidemiologists do not consider such weak associations to be as reliable as stronger ones. This is particularly true in cases where assessment of exposures is difficult, as in the case of diet, which is very challenging to evaluate.<sup>8</sup>

Questions can also be raised about the methods used to assess exposure to TFAs. In large epidemiologic studies, diet is usually assessed using food frequency questionnaires, in which respondents are asked to indicate how often

<sup>8.</sup> Examples of exposures that are much easier to evaluate are cigarette smoking, use of a specific medicine, or travel to a specific country. Researchers can get reasonably accurate information about a person's exposure to such factors by asking only a few questions (e.g., Have you ever taken Drug X? For how long? At what dose?). In contrast, extensive questioning is needed to obtain even an approximate picture of an individual's dietary habits.

they consume specified amounts of each of a large number of different foods. The three largest prospective studies that examined the relationship between TFA intake and heart disease risk used this method (the much smaller Zutphen Elderly Study used a different technique [Oomen et al., 2001]). Food frequency questionnaires, although they correlate reasonably well with more intensive methods of assessment, are relatively crude, and people may have difficulty remembering the information called for on the questionnaire. Assessing TFA intake with these questionnaires is even more difficult than assessing intakes of many other food components because 1) TFAs are found in a wide variety of foods, 2) adequate data on the TFA content of various food products have been difficult to obtain, and 3) the levels of TFAs present in foods may vary from brand to brand and from year to year. As the FNB noted in its report on TFAs (FNB, 2002a):

Estimating the amount of TFAs in the food supply has been hampered by the lack of an accurate and comprehensive database on which to derive the data and the trend towards the reformulation of products over the past decade to reduce levels...Additionally, the variability in the TFA content of foods within a food category is extensive and can introduce substantial error when the calculations are based on food frequency questionnaires that heavily rely on the grouping of similar foods.

Similarly, in its original proposal for TFA labeling of food products, the FDA (1999) noted that one of the reasons why the epidemiologic studies of TFAs and heart disease must be interpreted with caution is "the imprecision associated with the dietary collection methodologies used."

Another limitation of the epidemiologic studies is that they focused narrowly on coronary heart disease, rather than taking a broader look at the relationship between TFA intake and overall health. In future research, it would be of interest to examine the relationship between TFA intake and total deaths because the total death rate is what determines longevity in population terms.

#### Putting the Scientific Findings into Perspective

Because it is uncertain whether the relationship between TFA intake and heart disease risk observed in the epidemiologic studies is causal, it would not be prudent to rely solely on the results of these studies for quantitative prediction of the benefits to be gained by reductions in the use of partially hydrogenated vegetable oils. Instead, it is more appropriate to rely on the more reliable, though more modest, predictions of benefit derived from metabolic studies, while recognizing the possibility that decreasing TFA intake might have a greater benefit than the metabolic studies predict if mechanisms of action other than effects on blood lipid levels prove to be involved. In addition, the overall effect of decreasing TFA intake could even be detrimental depending on what substitutions are made. For example, substituting a cooking fat containing a much higher level of saturated fatty acids for one that contained a relatively small amount of TFAs would not improve the quality of the diet.

Overstating the potential benefit to be gained from decreasing TFA intake could be harmful to public health by promoting an overemphasis on this single dietary factor as opposed to other aspects of diet and other risk factors for coronary heart disease. A variety of factors—including modifiable ones such as cigarette smoking, high blood pressure, obesity, diabetes, physical inactivity, and blood cholesterol levels, as well as factors that cannot be modified, such as age and family history—all play roles in the causation of heart disease. Food choices influence several of the modifiable risk factors. An exaggerated focus on the role of TFAs, not backed up by solid data, could prompt people to pay less attention to other aspects of diet and other measures important in reducing their risk of heart disease, such as smoking cessation or weight loss.

Even with regard to lipid levels alone, TFAs are not the only or the most important determinant. Data from U.S. national surveys show that LDL cholesterol levels in men aged 50 to 74 and women aged 60 to 74 years decreased between the mid-1970s and 2002 (Carroll et al., 2005), a period when TFA intake is believed to have changed very little. Clearly, other factors—such as changes in other aspects of diet or the increased use of lipid-lowering drugs—must have been responsible for this change.

Concern about overemphasizing TFA intake to the exclusion of other factors prompted the FDA to make a change in its original proposal for TFA labeling before the regulation was even put into place. The FDA had originally planned (FDA, 1999) to accompany the listing of the amount of TFAs on the nutrition label with a footnote stating, "Intake of *trans* fat should be as low as possible." In the final version of the rule, however, the footnote was omitted because of concerns that it might place undue emphasis on TFAs relative to other heart-unhealthy fats, thereby potentially undermining official recommendations that call for consumers to limit their intakes of *both* saturated fatty acids and TFAs, in the context of a nutritionally adequate diet (FDA, 2003b).

The idea that TFA intake is only one of multiple factors that need to be taken into account in planning a healthful diet often seems lost in a sea of inflammatory rhetoric, presumably prompted by the "unnatural" or technological origin of most TFAs in a manufactured product rather than a "natural" agricultural commodity. The New York City health commissioner has likened *trans* fat to asbestos and lead (Santora, 2005), and in 2005, the New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene (DOHMH) asked restaurateurs and food suppliers in the city to eliminate the use of partially hydrogenated vegetable oils (DOHMH, 2005). In September 2006, New York City proposed a regulation that would require all restaurants to phase out the use of "artificial *trans* fats" (i.e., *trans* fats from partially hydrogenated vegetable oils) over an 18-month period (DOHMH, 2006). A supermarket chain in the United Kingdom recently announced with great fanfare that it was removing all hydrogenated fatty acids from its house-brand products (Fletcher, 2006). Recent articles in the *New York Times* about the presence of TFAs in chicken nuggets and Girl Scout cookies, respectively, carried the provocative titles "Nuggets of Death" (Teicholz, 2006) and "Killer Girl Scouts" (Kristof, 2006). It is understandably difficult for people to put concerns about TFAs into perspective when confronted with this type of journalistic excess and fearmongering.

One of the most prominent opponents of TFAs is CSPI (the same group that expressed moderate and reasonable views about TFAs in 1988). This organization recently sued KFC over its use of partially hydrogenated frying oils, claiming in the lawsuit that KFC is exposing the public to "deadly dangers" inherent in "the worst oil available and imaginable" and that the restaurant chain's conduct is "outrageous and performed with evil motive, intent to injure, ill will, and without legal justification or excuse" (Hoyte v. Yum! Brands Inc., 2006). The organization has also petitioned the FDA to ban partially hydrogenated oils (CSPI, 2004a) and (somewhat contradictorily) to require restaurants to disclose their use (CSPI, 2004b). In 2004, in response to the McDonald's restaurant chain's not meeting its self-imposed deadline for reformulating its frying oils to contain less *trans* fat, CSPI ran a full-page advertisement in the *New York Times*: half the ad consisted of a graphic photograph of a man receiving cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CSPI, 2004c). This type of alarmism does not represent science and is not in the public interest.

The need to consider aspects of a food product other than TFAs when evaluating its healthfulness is sometimes overlooked even by scientists. For example, in April 2006, a much-publicized letter to a medical journal reported that the amounts of TFAs in potato and chicken products sold by the McDonald's and KFC restaurant chains differed greatly from country to country (Stender et al., 2006), apparently reflecting the use of different types of frying fat. Both the letter and related news reports seemed to assume that the products with the lowest TFA levels would automatically be the most healthful. This assumption is not necessarily valid, however. A product low in TFAs would not be considered healthful if it is high in saturated fatty acids (as it would be, for example, if it were fried in coconut or palm oil). To properly compare the healthfulness of the fat content of the various chicken and potato products, it would be necessary to have information on both their saturated and TFA contents. Unfortunately, no saturated fatty acid data were reported in the fast food study. Therefore, the statement made by Michael Jacobson of CSPI in response to this study (CSPI, 2006) that "McDonald's and KFC's products are much healthier [in Denmark] than they are here" cannot be supported by the actual data provided by the researchers.

# **Product Reformulation**

It is sometimes suggested that food manufacturers and restaurants could instantaneously improve the healthfulness of their products by substituting unmodified vegetable oils that contain no TFAs for partially hydrogenated oils that do contain them. Reality, as usual, is more complex.

Most of the partially hydrogenated vegetable oil used in the United States is soybean oil; industry sources indicate that soybean oil accounts for 79 percent of all edible oil used in the U.S. Thus, reducing the TFA content of a food product usually involves substituting some other type of fat for partially hydrogenated soybean oil. However, the most readily available substitute—unmodified soybean oil—is not usually a suitable choice. Unmodified soybean oil is rich in highly unstable unsaturated fatty acids, particularly linolenic acid, which makes it poorly suited for deep-fat frying. Because it is a liquid oil, it is also unsuitable for some uses in baking, where semisolid fats are necessary. Therefore, other approaches are necessary, such as the following:

- In some instances, liquid vegetable oils that are rich in *cis* unsaturated fatty acids but not as unstable as soybean oil can be substituted for partially hydrogenated oils. However, this approach cannot be used for shortenings in baked goods, where a semisolid texture is essential.
- Another option in some situations is fully hydrogenated vegetable oils. Fully hydrogenated oils do not contain any TFAs; instead, depending on the fat they are derived from, they may consist largely of an 18-carbon saturated fatty acid called stearic acid. Unlike some other saturated fatty acids, which raise LDL cholesterol levels, stearic acid has little or no effect on blood lipids (Kris-Etherton et al., 2005). Fully hydrogenated oils, which have a hard, waxy texture, can be blended with unhydrogenated liquid oils to create a semisolid fat that can be substituted for conventional partially hydrogenated vegetable oils in some food processing applications.
- In some instances, vegetable oils processed or modified in other ways may be substituted for partially hydrogenated vegetable oils. For example, fully hydrogenated oils or oils naturally high in saturated fatty acids can be chemically combined with unhydrogenated oils by a process called *interesterification*, which rearranges fatty acids on glycerol molecules, creating products similar in texture to conventional partially hydrogenated vegetable oils but without any *trans*.
- Oils from plants bred to have more favorable fatty acid profiles may be suitable for some purposes. For example, new varieties of soybeans that produce an oil with less of the highly unstable linolenic acid have been produced.
- Additives such as gelling agents or emulsifiers may be added to unhydrogenated oils to create desired textures and other types of additives, such as

antioxidants, may be added to increase stability and retard spoilage.

• Finally, in many applications, it is possible to replace partially hydrogenated oils with fats rich in saturated fatty acids, such as lard or other animal fats or coconut or palm oils, which can provide both desired stability and texture. From a nutritional standpoint, substituting saturated fats for partially hydrogenated oils is not usually an improvement, but in some instances, particularly in baking, it may be the only way to produce a *trans*-free product acceptable to consumers.

With all of these approaches, replacing TFAs is not simply a matter of substituting a different type of fat for partially hydrogenated vegetable oil in a recipe. Many changes may need to be made in the composition and processing of a food to yield an acceptable product. Switching to replacement oils may also increase costs (which will eventually be passed on to consumers) and create supply problems. It will likely take several years before sufficient supplies of many of the newer oils are available to all the food processors who want them. Introducing new *trans*-free oils into large markets, such as fast food restaurants, is particularly difficult because the oils need to be available in large amounts something that cannot be achieved overnight. Many food companies are in the process of reformulating products to reduce or eliminate TFAs, using one or more of the approaches described above. However, it has proven to be challenging to maintain quality attributes important to consumers, such as texture, flavor, and shelf life, while modifying the products' fatty acid contents.

Finally, it is important to note that some types of food products cannot exist without either saturated fatty acids or TFAs. An example is margarines and other "spreads." The saturated fatty acids or TFAs in these products are the source of the hardness that these products need. Sophisticated technology has allowed the amounts of these fatty acids in such products to be greatly decreased, but complete elimination is not possible (Korver and Katan, 2006). If you remove all of the saturated and *trans* fatty acids from these products, you will not have a margarine or spread; you will have an oil with a buttery flavor, or at best, a pourable/squeezable product.

# **TFAs and Food Labeling**

In 1999, the FDA proposed requiring information on TFA content to be included in the Nutrition Facts label on food products, and in January 2006, a regulation requiring *trans* labeling went into effect. The regulation did not ban TFAs or in any way compel food manufacturers to modify their products. Nevertheless, the knowledge that this requirement was going into effect prompted many food manufacturers to take steps in advance toward reformulating their products to reduce or eliminate TFAs. The presence of TFA information on food labeling has likely also prompted some consumers to change their buying habits and perhaps even to inquire about the TFA content of unlabeled products and restaurant foods.

Based on the admittedly tentative information available before the labeling regulation went into effect, the FDA made two estimates of the potential decrease in coronary heart disease that might result from decreased intake of TFAs as a result of the labeling change. Based on the assumption that benefits would result only from changes in LDL cholesterol levels, the FDA estimated that the new rule would annually prevent 600 cases of coronary heart disease and 240 deaths; based on potential changes in both LDL and HDL cholesterol, the FDA estimated that the rule would prevent 1200 cases of coronary heart disease and 480 deaths per year in the general U.S. population (FDA, 2003b). These estimates are substantially lower than the other estimates discussed in this report because they are based on the understanding that labeling alone may result in relatively modest changes in the public's eating habits.

# **Summary and Conclusions**

A substantial body of scientific evidence indicates that the effects of *trans* unsaturated fatty acids on LDL cholesterol levels are less desirable than those of *cis* unsaturated fatty acids. It is also likely that TFAs have undesirable effects on HDL cholesterol when consumed at high levels, but whether such effects occur at the levels of TFA intake common in the United States has not been demonstrated. Whether TFAs influence heart disease risk by other mechanisms, in addition to their effects on blood lipids, has not yet been clearly established.

On the basis of projected effects on LDL cholesterol or LDL and HDL cholesterol combined, it has been very roughly estimated— with considerable uncertainty— that replacement of nearly all TFAs from partially hydrogenated vegetable oils with *cis* unsaturated fatty acids could theoretically lead to a reduction in heart disease of 3 to 6 percent. The reduction achievable in practice is likely to be substantially lower because *cis* unsaturated fatty acids cannot replace TFAs in some food applications for reasons related to texture or stability; in these instances, saturated fats are the only practical substitutes. Moreover, supply and cost considerations may limit the opportunities for reformulation of some food products.

Much higher estimates of the benefit that could be achieved by replacing TFAs in the diet with *cis* unsaturated fatty acids have frequently appeared in the scientific literature and the news media. These estimates are based on data from prospective epidemiological studies. Studies of this type cannot demonstrate a cause-and-effect relationship, and their results can be influenced by confounding factors and by the difficulty of assessing TFA levels in the diet. The results of the epidemiologic studies are important and should not be dismissed out of hand. However, relying too heavily on the possibly exaggerated estimates of benefit derived from these studies, which are much higher than those derived from other lines of evidence, would be unwise because it could detract attention from other aspects of diet that influence blood lipid levels, such as saturated fatty acid intake, and from other priorities in heart disease prevention, such as weight control, exercise, and abstinence from cigarette smoking.

Although scientists now agree that TFAs are not as healthful as their *cis* counterparts, exaggerated claims that TFAs pose dire health threats even in trace amounts are not supported by scientific evidence and are unwarranted. TFAs are not poison; they are simply one of several dietary factors that affect blood lipid levels, and blood lipid levels are only one of several major factors that influence the risk of heart disease. Efforts to decrease the risk of heart disease should involve a comprehensive and balanced focus on all of the major risk factors, rather than an overemphasis on one relatively minor issue to the exclusion of all others. Focusing too much attention on a single "bad" dietary factor is unwarranted and can even promote unwise dietary choices, such as selecting a food containing a much larger amount of saturated fat rather than one with a small amount of *trans* fat.

The kind of balanced perspective that is appropriate here is illustrated by the new 2006 guidelines from the American Heart Association—the same set of guidelines that made headlines because they were the first to set a quantitative goal for TFA intake. These guidelines did not specifically focus on TFAs to the exclusion of all else. Instead, they included seven diet and lifestyle goals, only one of which pertained to blood lipid levels and nine dietary recommendations for the public, only one of which dealt with the types of fat in the diet. Comprehensive recommendations of this type, which address all of the major risk factors for heart disease, including smoking, obesity, diabetes, high blood pressure, and physical inactivity as well as unhealthy blood lipid levels, reflect current scientific and medical thinking. Scare tactics and obsessive efforts to purge TFAs from the diet do not.

### References

- AHA (American Heart Association). Heart disease and stroke statistics—2006 Update. Circulation 2006;113:e85-e151.
- Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta Carotene Cancer Prevention Study Group. The effect of vitamin E and beta carotene on the incidence of lung cancer and other cancers in male smokers. N Engl J Med 1994;330:1029-1035.
- Allison DB, Denke MA, Dietschy JM, Emken EA, Kris-Etherton PM, Nicolosi RJ. trans fatty acids and coronary heart disease risk. Report of the expert panel on trans fatty acids and coronary heart disease. Am J Clin Nutr 1995;62:655-708.
- Allison DB, Egan SK, Barraj LM, Caughman C, Infante M, Heimbach JT. Estimated intakes of *trans* fatty and other fatty acids in the US population. J Am Diet Assoc 1999;99:166-174.
- Ascherio A, Rimm EB, Giovannucci EL, Spiegelman D, Stampfer M, Willett WC. Dietary fat and risk of coronary heart disease in men: cohort follow up study in the United States. BMJ 1996;313:84-90.
- ASCN/AIN Task Force on *Trans* Fatty Acids, Position paper on *trans* fatty acids, Am J Clin Nutr 1996;63:663-670. [ASCN refers to the American Society for Clinical Nutrition; AIN refers to the American Institute of Nutrition.]
- Blume E. The truth about trans. Nutrition Action, March 1988.
- British Nutrition Foundation. 1987. *Trans* fatty acids. London: British Nutrition Foundation.
- British Nutrition Foundation 1995. *Trans* fatty acids. London: British Nutrition Foundation.
- Carroll MD, Lacher DA, Sorlie PD, Cleeman JI, Gordon DJ, Wolz M, Grundy SM, Johnson CL. Trends in serum lipids and lipoproteins of adults, 1960-2002. JAMA 2005;294:1773-1781.
- Chen SC, Kritchevsky D, Baer DJ. *Trans* fatty acid effects on cardiovascular disease: animal and human studies. In: List G, Ratnayke N, Craig-Schmidt M, Kritchevsky D, eds. *Trans* fatty acids. Champaign, IL: AOCS Press; 2006 (in press).
- CSPI (Center for Science in the Public Interest). 2004a. Petition for Rulemaking to Revoke the Authority for Industry to use Partially Hydrogenated Vegetable Oils in Foods, submitted to FDA May 18, 2004, available online at http://cspinet.org/new/pdf/trans fat petition final may 18,pdf
- CSPI (Center for Science in the Public Interest). 2004b. Petition to Require Restaurants to Indicate That the Food They Serve Contains Trans Fat from Partially Hydrogenated Vegetable Oils, submitted to FDA July 22, 2004, available online at http://cspinet.org/new/pdf/transrestaurantpetitionfinal.pdf
- CSPI (Center for Science in the Public Interest). 2004c. Advertisement. Available online at http://cspinet.org/new/pdf/broken\_mcpromise\_final.pdf
- CSPI (Center for Science in the Public Interest). 2006. Study finds trans fat levels vary in McDonald's, KFC foods worldwide. Statement of CSPI executive director Michael F. Jacobson, April 13, 2006, available online at http://www.cspinet.org/new/200604131.html
- Danish Nutrition Council. The influence of trans fatty acids on health. 4th ed. 2003.
- Dietary Guidelines Advisory Committee. 2004. Backgrounder. 2005 Dietary Guidelines Advisory Committee Report. Available online at http://www.health.gov/DietaryGuidelines/dga2005/report/
- DOHMH (New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene). 2005. Health Department asks restaurateurs and food suppliers to voluntarily make an oil change and eliminate artificial trans fat. Press release issued August 10, available online at http://www.nyc.gov/html/doh/html/pr/pr083-05.shtml

- DOHMH (New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene). 2006. Health department proposes two changes to city's health code for public comment: first, to phase out artificial trans fat in all restaurants; second, to require calorie labeling in some restaurants. Press release issued September 26, available online at http://www.nyc.gov/html/doh/html/pr2006/pr093-06.shtml
- FDA (U.S. Food and Drug Administration). Food labeling: *trans* fatty acids in nutrition labeling, nutrient content claims, and health claims; proposed rule. Fed Reg 1999;64:62745-62845.
- FDA (U.S. Food and Drug Administration). Revealing *trans* fats. FDA Consumer 2003a (Sept/Oct). Updated version available online at http://www.fda.gov/fdac/features/2003/503\_fats.html
- FDA (U.S. Food and Drug Administration). Food labeling: *trans* fatty acids in nutrition labeling, nutrient content claims, and health claims. Fed Reg 2003b;68:41434-41506.
- FDA (U.S. Food and Drug Administration). 2003c (with more recent updates). Questions and answers about *trans* fat nutrition labeling. Available online at http://www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/qatrans2.html#s4q3
- Fletcher A. UK supermarkets vow to kick out trans fats. FoodNavigator.com/europe, August 8, 2006. Available online at http://www.foodnavigator.com/news/ ng.asp?n=69651&m=1FNE804&c=xhwwrerzwjbhaby
- FNB (Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine). 2002a. Letter report on dietary reference intakes for trans fatty acids. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- FNB (Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine). 2002b. Dietary reference intakes for energy, carbohydrate, fiber, fat, fatty acids, cholesterol, protein, and amino acids. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Harnack L, Lee S, Schakel SF, Duval S, Luepker RV, Arnett DK. Trends in the transfatty acid composition of the diet in a metropolitan area: The Minnesota Heart Survey. J Am Diet Assoc 2003;103:1160-1166.
- Hoyte A v. Yum! Brands Inc. [the parent company of KFC]. Class action complaint filed in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, June 12, 2006.
- Houterman S, Verschuren WMM, Oomen CM, Boersma-Cobbaert CM, Kromhout D. Trends in total and high density lipoprotein cholesterol and their determinants in The Netherlands between 1993 and 1997. Int J Epidemiol 2001;30:1063-1070.
- IFIC (International Food Information Council) Foundation. 2006. IFIC Foundation Food and Health Survey. Available online at http://www.ific.org
- Ioannidis JP. Contradicted and initially stronger effects in highly cited clinical research. JAMA 2005;294:218-228.
- ISEO (Institute of Shortening and Edible Oils). 2006. Food fats and oils. Washington, DC: Institute of Shortening and Edible Oils. Available online at http://www.iseo.org
- Korver O, Katan MB. The elimination of *trans* fats from spreads: how science helped to turn an industry around. Nutr Rev 2006;275-279.
- Kris-Etherton PM, Griel AE, Psota TL, Gebauer SK, Zhang J, Etherton TD. Dietary stearic acid and risk of cardiovascular disease: intake, sources, digestion, and absorption. Lipids 2005;40:1193-1200.
- Kristof ND. Killer Girl Scouts. New York Times, May 21, 2006, p. 4.15.
- Lichtenstein AH, Appel LJ, Brands M, Carnethon M, Daniels S, Franklin B, Kris-Etherton P, Harris WS, Howard B, Karanja N, Lefevre M, Rudel L, Sacks F, Van Horn L, Winston M, Wylie-Rosett J. Diet and lifestyle recommendations revision 2006. A scientific statement from the American Heart Association Nutrition Committee. Circulation. Published online June 19, 2006; DOI:10.1161/CIRCULA-TIONAHA.106.176158.
- Mozaffarian D, Katan MB, Ascherio A, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC. *trans* fatty acids and cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med 2006;354:1601-1603.

- National Center for Health Statistics. 2005. Health, United States, 2005. Available online at http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/hus.htm
- National Cholesterol Education Program. Second report of the expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (Adult Treatment Panel II). Circulation 1994;89:1333-1445.
- Nicolosi RJ, Dietschy JM. Dietary trans fatty acids and lipoprotein cholesterol. Am J Clin Nutr 1995;61:400-401.
- Oh K, Hu FB, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC. Dietary fat intake and risk of coronary heart disease in women: 20 years of follow-up of the Nurses' Health Study. Am J Epidemiol 2005;161:672-679.
- Omenn GS, Goodman GE, Thornquist MD, et al. Effects of a combination of beta carotene and vitamin A on lung cancer and cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med 1996;334:1150-1155.
- Oomen CM, Ocke MC, Feskens EJ, van Erp-Baart MA, Kok FJ, Kromhout D. Association between *trans* fatty acid intake and 10-year risk of coronary heart disease in the Zutphen Elderly Study: a prospective population-based study. Lancet 2001;357:746-751.
- Pfalzgraf A, Timm M, Steinhart H. [Content of *trans* fatty acids in food.] Z Ernahrungswiss 1994;33:24-43 [Article in German].
- Pietinen P, Ascherio A, Korhonen P, et al. Intake of fatty acids and risk of coronary heart disease in a cohort of Finnish men: the Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta-Carotene Cancer Prevention Study. Am J Epidemiol 1997;145:876-887.
- Santora M. Hold that fat, New York asks its restaurants. New York Times August 11, 2005.
- Senti FR, ed. 1985. Health aspects of dietary *trans* fatty acids. Bethesda, MD: Life Sciences Research Office, Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology.
- Sherman CB. The health consequences of cigarette smoking. Med Clin North Am 1992;76:355.
- Stender S, Dyerberg J, Astrup A. High levels of industrially produced *trans* fat in popular fast foods [letter]. N Engl J Med 2006;354:1650-1652.
- Teicholz N. Nuggets of death. New York Times, April 16, 2006. p. 4.13.
- Thorpe M. Trans-fatty acid composition in diets: What should dietetics professionals know? 2003;103:1166.
- United Soybean Board. Undated. *Trans* fatty acids and soybean oil backgrounder. Available online at http://www.talksoy.com/pdfs/Approved*Trans*Fact\_Sheet.pdf
- USDA/HHS (U.S. Department of Agriculture and U.S. Department of Health and Human Services). 1995. Nutrition and your health: dietary guidelines for Americans, 4th ed. Home and Garden Bulletin No. 232. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- USDA/HHS (U.S. Department of Agriculture and U.S. Department of Health and Human Services). 2000. Nutrition and your health: dietary guidelines for Americans, 5th ed. Home and Garden Bulletin No. 232. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- USDA/HHS (U.S. Department of Agriculture and U.S. Department of Health and Human Services). 2005. Dietary guidelines for Americans 2005. Home and Garden Bulletin No. 232/HHS-ODPHP-2005-01-DGA-A. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Writing Group for the Women's Health Initiative Investigators. Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women. Principal results from the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2002;288:321-333.

#### ACSH BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Frederick Anderson, Esq. McKenna Long & Aldridge

Nigel Bark, M.D. Albert Einstein College of Medicine

Elissa P. Benedek, M.D. University of Michigan Medical School

Norman E. Borlaug, Ph.D. Texas A&M University

Michael B. Bracken, Ph.D., M.P.H. Yale University School of Medicine

Christine M. Bruhn, Ph.D. University of California, Davis

Taiwo K. Danmola, C.P.A. Ernst & Young

Thomas R. DeGregori, Ph.D. University of Houston James E. Enstrom, Ph.D., M.P.H. University of California, Los Angeles James E. Enstrom, Ph.D., M.P.H. Pamela B. Jackson and Thomas C.

> Elizabeth McCaughey, Ph.D. Committee to Reduce Infection Deaths

Henry I. Miller, M.D. The Hoover Institution

Rodney W. Nichols Indo-US Science & Technology Forum

ACSH FOUNDERS CIRCLE

Stephen S. Sternberg, M.D. Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center

Lorraine Thelian Ketchum Kenneth M. Prager, M.D. Columbia University Medical Center

Katherine L. Rhyne, Esq. King & Spalding LLP

Lee M. Silver, Ph.D. Princeton University

Thomas P. Stossel, M.D. Harvard Medical School

Elizabeth M. Whelan, Sc.D., M.P.H. American Council on Science and Health

A. Alan Moghissi, Ph.D. Institute for Regulatory Science

Jack Fisher, M.D.

Hon. Bruce S. Gelb

New York, NY

University of California. San Diego

Donald A. Henderson, M.D., M.P.H.

John Moore, Ph.D., M.B.A Grove City College, President Emeritus

Albert G. Nickel Lyons Lavey Nickel Swift, Inc. Kimberly M. Thompson, Sc.D. Massachusetts Institute of Technology Robert J. White, M.D., Ph.D. Case Western Reserve University

ACSH EXECUTIVE STAFF

# Elizabeth M. Whelan, Sc.D., M.P.H., President

#### Ernest L. Abel, Ph.D.

C.S. Mott Center

Gary R. Acuff, Ph.D. Texas A&M University

Julie A. Albrecht, Ph.D. University of Nebraska, Lincoln

James E. Alcock, Ph.D. Glendon College, York University

Thomas S. Allems, M.D., M.P.H. San Francisco, CA

Richard G. Allison, Ph.D. American Society for Nutritional Sciences

John B. Allred, Ph.D. Ohio State University

Philip R. Alper, M.D. University of California, San Francisco

Karl E. Anderson, M.D. University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston

Dennis T. Avery Hudson Institute

Ronald P. Bachman, M.D. Kaiser-Permanente Medical Center

Robert S. Baratz, D.D.S., Ph.D., M.D.

International Medical Consultation Services

Stephen Barrett, M.D. Allentown, PA

Thomas G. Baumgartner, Pharm.D., M.Ed. *University of Florida* 

W. Lawrence Beeson, Dr.P.H. Loma Linda University School of Public Health Sir Colin Berry, D.Sc., Ph.D., M.D. Institute of Pathology, Royal London Hospital Barry L. Beyerstein, Ph.D.

Simon Fraser University Steven Black, M.D.

Kaiser-Permanente Vaccine Study Center

Blaine L. Blad, Ph.D. Kanosh, UT

Hinrich L. Bohn, Ph.D. University of Arizona

Ben W. Bolch, Ph.D. Rhodes College

Joseph F. Borzelleca, Ph.D. Medical College of Virginia

Michael K. Botts, Esq. Ankeny, IA

George A. Bray, M.D. Pennington Biomedical Research Center

Ronald W. Brecher, Ph.D., C.Chem., DABT

GlobalTox International Consultants, Inc. Robert L. Brent, M.D., Ph.D.

Thomas Jefferson University / A. I. duPont Hospital for Children

Allan Brett, M.D. University of South Carolina

Kenneth G. Brown, Ph.D. KBinc

Gale A. Buchanan, Ph.D. Adel, GA

George M. Burditt, J.D. Bell, Boyd & Lloyd LLC Edward E. Burns, Ph.D. Texas A&M University

Francis F. Busta, Ph.D. University of Minnesota

Elwood F. Caldwell, Ph.D., M.B.A. University of Minnesota

Zerle L. Carpenter, Ph.D. Texas A&M University

Robert G. Cassens, Ph.D. University of Wisconsin, Madison

Ercole L. Cavalieri, D.Sc. University of Nebraska Medical Center

Russell N. A. Cecil, M.D., Ph.D. Albany Medical College

Rino Cerio, M.D. Barts and The London Hospital Institute of Pathology

Morris E. Chafetz, M.D. Health Education Foundation

Bruce M. Chassy, Ph.D. University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign

Martha A. Churchill, Esq. Milan. MI

Emil William Chynn, M.D., FACS., M.B.A. New York Eye & Ear Infirmary

Dean O. Cliver, Ph.D. University of California, Davis

F. M. Clydesdale, Ph.D. University of Massachusetts

Donald G. Cochran, Ph.D. Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University

W. Ronnie Coffman, Ph.D. Cornell University Bernard L. Cohen, D.Sc. University of Pittsburgh

John J. Cohrssen, Esq. Public Health Policy Advisory Board

Gerald F. Combs, Jr., Ph.D. USDA Grand Forks Human Nutrition Center

Michael D. Corbett, Ph.D. Omaha, NE

Morton Corn, Ph.D. John Hopkins University

Nancy Cotugna, Dr.Ph., R.D., C.D.N.

University of Delaware

H. Russell Cross, Ph.D. National Beef

James W. Curran, M.D., M.P.H. Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University

Charles R. Curtis, Ph.D. Ohio State University

Ilene R. Danse, M.D. Bolinas, CA

Robert M. Devlin, Ph.D. University of Massachusetts

Seymour Diamond, M.D. Diamond Headache Clinic

Donald C. Dickson, M.S.E.E. *Gilbert, AZ* 

Ralph Dittman, M.D., M.P.H. Houston, TX

John E. Dodes, D.D.S. National Council Against Health Fraud

Theron W. Downes, Ph.D. Michigan State University

#### University of Pittsburgh Medical Center Rodney W. Nichols

Michael P. Doyle, Ph.D. University of Georgia

Adam Drewnowski, Ph.D. University of Washington

Michael A. Dubick, Ph.D. U.S. Army Institute of Surgical Research

Greg Dubord, M.D., M.P.H. Toronto Center for Cognitive Therapy

Edward R. Duffie, Jr., M.D. Savannah, GA

Leonard J. Duhl, M.D. University of California, Berkeley

David F. Duncan, Dr.P.H. Duncan & Associates

James R. Dunn, Ph.D. Averill Park, NY

Robert L. DuPont, M.D. Institute for Behavior and Health

Henry A. Dymsza, Ph.D. University of Rhode Island

Michael W. Easley, D.D.S., M.P.H. International Health Management & Research Associates

George E. Ehrlich, M.D., M.B. Philadelphia, PA

Michael P. Elston, M.D., M.S. Western Health

William N. Elwood, Ph.D. Key West, FL

Stephen K. Epstein, M.D., M.P.P., FACEP Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center

Myron E. Essex, D.V.M., Ph.D. Harvard School of Public Health

Terry D. Etherton, Ph.D. Pennsylvania State University

R. Gregory Evans, Ph.D., M.P.H. St. Louis University Center for the Study of

Bioterrorism and Emerging Infections

William Evans, Ph.D. University of Alabama

Daniel F. Farkas, Ph.D., M.S., P.E. Oregon State University

Richard S. Fawcett, Ph.D. Huxley, IA

Owen R. Fennema, Ph.D. University of Wisconsin, Madison

Frederick L. Ferris, III, M.D. National Eye Institute

David N. Ferro, Ph.D. University of Massachusetts

Madelon L. Finkel, Ph.D. Weill Medical College of Cornell University

Kenneth D. Fisher, Ph.D. Office of Disease Prevention and Health

Leonard T. Flynn, Ph.D., M.B.A. Morganville, NJ William H. Foege, M.D., M.P.H. Emory University Ralph W. Fogleman, D.V.M. Daylestown, PA Christopher H. Foreman, Jr., Ph.D. University of Maryland F. J. Francis, Ph.D. University of Massachusetts Glenn W. Froning, Ph.D. University of Nebraska, Lincoln Vincent A. Fulginiti, M.D.

Tucson, AZ Robert S. Gable, Ed.D., Ph.D.,

J.D. Claremont Graduate University

Shayne C. Gad, Ph.D., D.A.B.T., A.T.S.

Gad Consulting Services William G. Gaines, Jr., M.D.,

M.P.H.

Scott & White Clinic Charles O. Gallina, Ph.D.

Professional Nuclear Associates

Raymond Gambino, M.D. Quest Diagnostics Incorporated

Randy R. Gaugler, Ph.D. Rutgers University

J. Bernard L. Gee, M.D. Yale University School of Medicine

K. H. Ginzel, M.D. University of Arkansas for Medical Science

William Paul Glezen, M.D. Baylor College of Medicine

Jay A. Gold, M.D., J.D., M.P.H. Medical College of Wisconsin

Roger E. Gold, Ph.D. Texas A&M University

Reneé M. Goodrich, Ph.D. University of Florida

Frederick K. Goodwin, M.D. The George Washington University Medical Center

Timothy N. Gorski, M.D., F.A.C.O.G.

University of North Texas Ronald E. Gots, M.D., Ph.D.

International Center for Toxicology and Medicine

Henry G. Grabowski, Ph.D. Duke University

James Ian Gray, Ph.D. Michigan State University

William W. Greaves, M.D., M.S.P.H. Medical College of Wisconsin

Kenneth Green, D.Env.

American Interprise Institute Laura C. Green, Ph.D., D.A.B.T. Cambridge Environmental, Inc. Saul Green, Ph.D. Zol Consultants

Richard A. Greenberg, Ph.D. *Hinsdale, IL* 

Sander Greenland, Dr.P.H., M.S., M.A.

UCLA School of Public Health

Gordon W. Gribble, Ph.D. Dartmouth College

William Grierson, Ph.D. University of Florida

Lester Grinspoon, M.D. Harvard Medical School

F. Peter Guengerich, Ph.D. Vanderbilt University School of Medicine

Caryl J. Guth, M.D. Advance, NC

Philip S. Guzelian, M.D. University of Colorado

Terryl J. Hartman, Ph.D., M.P.H., R.D. The Pennsylvania State University

Clare M. Hasler, Ph.D. The Robert Mondavi Institute of Wine and Food Science, University of

*California, Davis* Robert D. Hovener, M.P.A.

Sacramento, CA Virgil W. Hays, Ph.D. University of Kentucky

Cheryl G. Healton, Dr.PH. J.L Mailman School of Public Health of Columbia University

Clark W. Heath, Jr., M.D. American Cancer Society

Dwight B. Heath, Ph.D. Brown University

Robert Heimer, Ph.D. Yale School of Public Health

Robert B. Helms, Ph.D. American Enterprise Institute

Zane R. Helsel, Ph.D. Rutgers University, Cook College

James D. Herbert, Ph.D. Drexel University

Gene M. Heyman, Ph.D. McLean Hospital/Harvard Medical School

Richard M. Hoar, Ph.D. Savannah, GA

Theodore R. Holford, Ph.D. Yale University School of Medicine

Robert M. Hollingworth, Ph.D. Michigan State University

Edward S. Horton, M.D. Joslin Diabetes Center/Harvard Medical School

Joseph H. Hotchkiss, Ph.D. Cornell University

Steve E. Hrudey, Ph.D. University of Alberta Susanne L. Huttner, Ph.D. University of California, Berkeley

Lucien R. Jacobs, M.D. University of California, Los Angeles

Alejandro R. Jadad, M.D., D.Phil., F.R.C.P.C. University of Toronto

Rudolph J. Jaeger, Ph.D. Environmental Medicine, Inc.

William T. Jarvis, Ph.D. Loma Linda University

Michael Kamrin, Ph.D. Michigan State University

John B. Kaneene, D.V.M., M.P.H., Ph.D. Michiaan State University

P. Andrew Karam, Ph.D., CHP MJW Corporation

Philip G. Keeney, Ph.D. Pennsylvania State University

John G. Keller, Ph.D. Olney, MD

Kathryn E. Kelly, Dr.P.H. Delta Toxicology

George R. Kerr, M.D. University of Texas, Houston

George A. Keyworth II, Ph.D. Progress and Freedom Foundation

Michael Kirsch, M.D. Highland Heights, OH

John C. Kirschman, Ph.D. Emmaus, PA

Ronald E. Kleinman, M.D. Massachusetts General Hospital/ Harvard Medical School

Leslie M. Klevay, M.D., S.D. in Hyg. University of North Dakota School of Medicine and Health Sciences

David M. Klurfeld, Ph.D. U.S. Department of Agriculture

Alan R. Kristal, Dr.P.H.

David Kritchevsky, Ph.D.

Mitzi R. Krockover, M.D.

Manfred Kroaer, Ph.D.

Laurence J. Kulp. Ph.D.

University of Washington

Pennsylvania State University

The Wistar Institute

Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research

Stephen B. Kritchevsky, Ph.D.

Wake Forest University Baptist Medical

Health

Center

Center

SSB Solutions

Kathryn M. Kolasa, Ph.D., R.D. East Carolina University James S. Koopman, M.D, M.P.H.

University of Michigan School of Public

Sandford F. Kuvin, M.D. University of Miami School of Medicine/ Hebrew University of Jerusalem

Carolyn J. Lackey, Ph.D., R.D. North Carolina State University

J. Clayburn LaForce, Ph.D. University of California, Los Angeles

Pagona Lagiou, M.D., Ph.D. University of Athens Medical School

James C. Lamb, IV, Ph.D., J.D., D.A.B.T. The Weinberg Group

Lawrence E. Lamb, M.D. San Antonio, TX

William E. M. Lands, Ph.D. College Park, MD

Lillian Langseth, Dr.P.H. Lyda Associates, Inc.

Brian A. Larkins, Ph.D. University of Arizona

Larry Laudan, Ph.D. National Autonomous University of Mexico

Tom B. Leamon, Ph.D. Liberty Mutual Insurance Company

Jay H. Lehr, Ph.D. Environmental Education Enterprises, Inc.

Brian C. Lentle, M.D., FRCPC, DMRD

University of British Columbia Floy Lilley, J.D. Fernandina Beach, FL

Paul J. Lioy, Ph.D. UMDNJ-Robert Wood Johnson Medical School

William M. London, Ed.D., M.P.H. Charles R. Drew University of Medicine and Science

Frank C. Lu, M.D., BCFE Miami. FL

William M. Lunch, Ph.D. Oregon State University

Daryl Lund, Ph.D. University of Wisconsin

George D. Lundberg, M.D. Medscape General Medicine

Howard D. Maccabee, Ph.D., M.D.

*Alamo, CA* Janet E. Macheledt, M.D., M.S.,

M.P.H. Houston, TX

Roger P. Maickel, Ph.D. Purdue University

Henry G. Manne, J.S.D. George Mason University Law School

Karl Maramorosch, Ph.D. Rutgers University, Cook College Judith A. Marlett, Ph.D., R.D. University of Wisconsin, Madison

James R. Marshall, Ph.D. Roswell Park Cancer Institute

Mary H. McGrath, M.D., M.P.H. University of California, San Francisco

Alan G. McHughen, D.Phil. University of California, Riverside

James D. McKean, D.V.M., J.D. Iowa State University

Patrick J. Michaels, Ph.D. University of Virginia

Thomas H. Milby, M.D., M.P.H. Walnut Creek, CA

Joseph M. Miller, M.D., M.P.H. Durham, NH

William J. Miller, Ph.D. University of Georgia

Dade W. Moeller, Ph.D. Harvard University

Grace P. Monaco, J.D. Medical Care Management Corp.

Brian E. Mondell, M.D. Baltimore Headache Institute

John W. Morgan, Dr.P.H. California Cancer Registry

Stephen J. Moss, D.D.S., M.S. New York University College of Dentistry/ Health Education Enterprises, Inc.

Brooke T. Mossman, Ph.D. University of Vermont College of Medicine

Allison A. Muller, Pharm.D The Children's Hospital of Philadelphia

Ian C. Munro, F.A.T.S., Ph.D., FRCPath Cantox Health Sciences International

Harris M. Nagler, M.D. Beth Israel Medical Center/ Albert

Einstein College of Medicine Daniel J. Ncayiyana, M.D.

Durban Instituté of Technology Philip E. Nelson, Ph.D.

Purdue University Jovce A. Nettleton. D.Sc., R.D.

Denver, CO

John S. Neuberger, Dr.P.H. University of Kansas School of Medicine

Gordon W. Newell, Ph.D., M.S., F.-A.T.S.

Cupertino, CA

Thomas J. Nicholson, Ph.D., M.P.H. *Western Kentuckv Universitv* 

Steven P. Novella, M.D. Yale University School of Medicine

James L. Oblinger, Ph.D. North Carolina State University Deborah L. O'Connor, Ph.D. University of Toronto/ The Hospital for Sick Children

John Patrick O'Grady, M.D. Tufts University School of Medicine

James E. Oldfield, Ph.D. Oregon State University

Stanley T. Omaye, Ph.D., F.-A.T.S., F.ACN, C.N.S. University of Nevada, Reno

Michael T. Osterholm, Ph.D., M.P.H.

University of Minnesota

Michael W. Pariza, Ph.D. University of Wisconsin, Madison

Stuart Patton, Ph.D. Pennsylvania State University

James Marc Perrin, M.D. Mass General Hospital for Children

Timothy Dukes Phillips, Ph.D. Texas A&M University

Mary Frances Picciano, Ph.D. National Institutes of Health

David R. Pike, Ph.D. University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign

Thomas T. Poleman, Ph.D. Cornell University

Gary P. Posner, M.D. Tampa, FL

John J. Powers, Ph.D. University of Georgia

William D. Powrie, Ph.D. University of British Columbia

C.S. Prakash, Ph.D. *Tuskegee University* 

Marvin P. Pritts, Ph.D. Cornell University

Daniel J. Raiten, Ph.D. National Institute of Health

David W. Ramey, D.V.M. Ramey Equine Group

R.T. Ravenholt, M.D., M.P.H. Population Health Imperatives

Russel J. Reiter, Ph.D. University of Texas, San Antonio

William O. Robertson, M.D. University of Washington School of Medicine

J. D. Robinson, M.D. Georgetown University School of Medicine

Bill D. Roebuck, Ph.D., D.A.B.T. Dartmouth Medical School

David B. Roll, Ph.D. The United States Pharmacopeia

Dale R. Romsos, Ph.D. Michigan State University

Joseph D. Rosen, Ph.D. Cook College, Rutgers University Steven T. Rosen, M.D. Northwestern University Medical School

Kenneth J. Rothman, Dr.P.H. Boston University School of Public Health

Stanley Rothman, Ph.D. Smith College

Stephen H. Safe, D.Phil. Texas A&M University

Wallace I. Sampson, M.D. Stanford University School of Medicine

Harold H. Sandstead, M.D. University of Texas Medical Branch

Charles R. Santerre, Ph.D. Purdue University

Sally L. Satel, M.D. American Enterprise Institute

Lowell D. Satterlee, Ph.D. Vergas, MN

Jeffrey W. Savell Texas A&M University

Marvin J. Schissel, D.D.S. Roslyn Heights, NY

Edgar J. Schoen, M.D. Kaiser Permanente Medical Center

David Schottenfeld, M.D., M.Sc. University of Michigan

Joel M. Schwartz, M.S. American Enterprise Institute

David E. Seidemann, Ph.D. Brooklyn College

Patrick J. Shea, Ph.D. University of Nebraska, Lincoln

Michael B. Shermer, Ph.D. Skeptic Magazine

Sidney Shindell, M.D., LL.B. Medical College of Wisconsin Sarah Short, Ph.D., Ed.D., R.D.

Syracuse University

A. J. Siedler, Ph.D.

Marc K. Siegel, M.D.

Wayne State University

S. Fred Singer, Ph.D.

Science & Environmental Policy

Anne M. Smith, Ph.D., R.D., L.D.

Robert B. Sklaroff, M.D.

Chamnaion

Medicine

Proiect

Elkins Park. PA

Ohio State University

Gary C. Smith, Ph.D.

Colorado State University

John N. Sofos, Ph.D. Colorado State University

Roy F. Spalding, Ph.D.

University of Nebraska, Lincoln

University of Illinois, Urbana-

New York University School of

Michael S. Simon, M.D., M.P.H.

| Leonard T. Sperry, M.D., Ph.D.<br>Barry University              | Glenn Swogger, J<br>Topeka, KS                            |
|---|---|
| Robert A. Squire, D.V.M., Ph.D.<br>Johns Hopkins University     | Sita R. Tatini, Ph.<br>University of Minnes               |
| Ronald T. Stanko, M.D.<br>University of Pittsburgh Medical      | Steve L. Taylor, P<br>University of Nebras                |
| Center  | James W. Tillotso   |
| James H. Steele, D.V.M., M.P.H.<br>University of Texas, Houston | M.B.A.<br>Tufts University                                |
| Robert D. Steele, Ph.D.<br>Pennsylvania State University        | Dimitrios Trichopo<br>Harvard School of P                 |
| Judith S. Stern, Sc.D., R.D.<br>University of California, Davis | Murray M. Tucker<br>Winchendon, MA                        |
| Ronald D. Stewart, O.C., M.D.,<br>FRCPC                         | Robert P. Upchuro<br>University of Arizona                |
| Dalhousie University  | Mark I Utell M I  |
| Martha Barnes Stone, Ph.D.<br>Colorado State University         | University of Roches<br>Center                            |
| Jon A. Story, Ph.D.<br>Purdue University                        | Shashi B. Verma,<br>University of Nebras                  |
| Michael M. Sveda, Ph.D.<br>Gaithersburg, MD                     | Willard J. Visek, I<br>University of Illinois<br>Medicine |

Ir., M.D. D.

sota

h.D. ka, Lincoln on, Ph.D.,

oulos, M.D. Public Health

rman, Ph.D.

ch. Ph.D. D. ster Medical

Ph.D. ka, Lincoln M.D., Ph.D.

College of

Lynn Waishwell, Ph.D., C.H.E.S. University of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey, School of Public Health

Donald M. Watkin, M.D., M.P.H., F.A.C.P. George Washington University

Miles Weinberger, M.D. University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics

John Weisburger, M.D., Ph.D. Institute for Cancer Prevention/ New York Medical College

Janet S. Weiss, M.D. The ToxDoc

Simon Wessley, M.D., FRCP King's College London and Institute of Psychiatry

Steven D. Wexner, M.D. Cleveland Clinic Florida

Joel Elliot White, M.D., F.A.C.R. Danville, CA

Carol Whitlock, Ph.D., R.D. Rochester Institute of Technology

Christopher F. Wilkinson, Ph.D. Wilmington, NC

Mark L. Willenbring, M.D., Ph.D. National Institute on Alcohol Abuse

and Alcoholism Carl K. Winter, Ph.D. University of California, Davis

James J. Worman, Ph.D. Rochester Institute of Technology

Russell S. Worrall, O.D. University of California, Berkeley

Steven H. Zeisel, M.D., Ph.D. University of North Carolina

Michael B. Zemel, Ph.D. Nutrition Institute. University of Tennessee

Ekhard E. Ziegler, M.D. University of Iowa

The opinions expressed in ACSH publications do not necessarily represent the views of all members of the ACSH Board of Trustees, Founders Circle and Board of Scientific and Policy Advisors, who all serve without compensation.

Julianne M. Chickering Research Associate

Judith A. D'Agostino Administrative Assistant

Jaclyn Eisenberg Research Assistant

Ruth Kava, Ph.D., R.D. Director of Nutrition

ACSH STAFF

Patricia A. Keenan Executive Assistant to the President

A. Marcial C. Lapeña Accountant

Jennifer Lee Art Director

Molly Lee Research Assistant Cheryl E. Martin Associate Director

Gilbert L. Ross, M.D. Executive and Medical Director

Tara McTeaque Development Assistant Todd Seavey Director of Publications

Jeff Stier, Esq. Associate Director